
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Graham Seal

29 June 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH  
COUNCIL to be held on Monday 9 July 2018  at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the annual meeting held on 
21 May 2018 (previously circulated).

3.  PETITIONS 

The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented).

4.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough.

Public Document Pack



5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda.

6.  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service.

7.  QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 6)

For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 45, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough.

Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 45 will be 
tabled at the meeting.  A Member asking a question may ask, without giving 
notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply.

8.  MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET 

To consider recommendations from the meeting of the Cabinet on 5 June 2018:-

(a)   Food Safety Service Plan 2018/19 (Pages 7 - 28)

(b)   Corporate Enforcement Policy (Pages 29 - 60)

9.  PROPOSED FIXED PENALTY NOTICE CHARGE FOR BREACH OF 
HATFIELD PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (Pages 61 - 64)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) seeking approval 
for the recommended level of penalty to be levied for a Fixed Penalty Notice 
issued under the agreed enforcement protocol.

10.  NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50 (Pages 65 - 68)

To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 50 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 2 July 2018 will be circulated separately.



11.  URGENT MATTERS 

To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 13(r).

Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 7

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL MEETING – 9 JULY 2018

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 45 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 45:-

1. Question to the Leader from Councillor Kieran Thorpe
 

“In light of the news that the Police and Crime Commissioner plans to close Fire 
Stations both at WGC and Hatfield and relocate services to Hertfordshire Police 
Headquarters – does she agree with me that this demonstrates the unsuitability 
of the Commissioner to expand his remit by taking control of the Hertfordshire 
Fire Service?”

2. Question to Councillor Duncan Bell from Councillor George Michaelides

“We all welcome the news that £50,000 is to be spent on refurbishing 
Panshanger Community Centre.

Can the Leader please confirm that all the existing users will be contacted to 
ensure that they are given every opportunity to continue using this facility.  Also 
can you guarantee that the works will be completed during August in order to 
start afresh in September”.

3. Question to the Leader from Councillor Malcolm Cowan

“Does the executive member endorse the current arrangements and staffing 
that have given rise to almost 600 outstanding planning enforcement cases?  
Does this give the right message to residents that breaches will be swiftly and 
effectively dealt with and discourage copycat breaches?”

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 8 (a)
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 9 JULY 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 5 June 2018:-

4.1 Food Safety Service Plan 2018/19 (Forward Plan Reference FP853)

The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 March 2018 on 
agreement of a Food Safety Service Plan for 2018/19 for Welwyn Hatfield 
which was a requirement of the Food Standards Agency.

The Food Standards Agency had overall responsibility for the official 
control of food law enforcement in England and one of their requirements 
was that all local authorities produced a food safety service plan which had 
been agreed by their Members.  The latest version had been agreed by the 
Environment and Overview Scrutiny Committee.

The Cabinet noted performance against the previous Food Safety Service 
Plan, approved the draft plan for 2018/19 and RECOMMENDS its adoption 
to the Council.

Page 7

Agenda Item 8a



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Item No: 10
Main author: Cheryll Brown 
Executive Member: Bernard Sarson
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 26 MARCH 2018
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

FOOD SAFETY SERVICE PLAN 2018/19

1 Executive Summary

1.1 It is a requirement of the Food Standards Agency that each local authority draws 
up, documents and implements a food safety service plan which is approved by 
members.

1.2 This report sets out (in appendix A) the food safety service plan for 2018/19. As 
agreed by members last year Appendix B a review of performance against the 
previous food safety service plan will be presented to the next committee 
meeting in June/July.     

1.3 Members are asked to consider the food safety service plan in appendix A and 
recommend to Cabinet that it is sent to Full Council for adoption.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For the committee to note the performance against the previous service plan and 
to consider and approve the service plan in appendix A and recommend to 
Cabinet that it is sent to Full Council to be adopted.

3 Explanation

3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has overall responsibility for the official 
control of food law enforcement in England.  This involves co-ordinating, 
monitoring, setting standards and auditing local authority food law enforcement 
activities.  This includes a requirement that all local authorities produce a food 
safety service plan which has been agreed by their members.  The latest version 
is shown in Appendix A and is written having regard to the format proscribed by 
the FSA.

3.2 It will be noted that local authorities are expected to not just merely undertake 
“routine hygiene inspections” but to operate a risk based enforcement system 
that values educational initiatives together with formal legal enforcement tools 
and ‘non inspection interventions’ (for example targeted sampling, imported food 
controls).  

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 Mandatory guidance issued by the Food Standards Agency requires Welwyn 
Hatfield Council to have adopted a food safety service plan which meets the 
format prescribed by the Food Standards Agency.

Page 9



- 2 -

4.2 In carrying out this work officers may carry out enforcement of the legal 
provisions in order to ensure the public are not put at risk and there is 
compliance with the law. This can range from provision of advice through to 
formal enforcement notices and prosecutions. 

4.3 The Sentencing Council provided new definitive guidelines1 covering the 
sentencing of food hygiene offences before the criminal Courts in February 2016. 

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 None directly arising from this report; there is a budget in place for this work 
however it is not possible to predict what enforcement actions may be required 
during the year, and specific enforcement cases may incur additional costs (for 
example in respect of legal fees). 

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The main risks related to this proposal are:

6.2 The Council is at risk from public criticism from the Food Standards Agency if it 
cannot show it has produced and obtained Member approval of a food safety 
service plan which is written in accordance with the Food Standards Agency 
guidance.

6.3 The public are at risk if the council does not provide an adequately resourced 
food hygiene function. 

6.4 As with any enforcement activity there is a risk of incurring costs, some of which 
may not be fully recovered. 

6.5 Our work with local business, especially small and medium sized enterprises 
helps the local economy and business growth, thereby mitigating associated 
risks.

6.6 The work of the public health and protection service is considerably broad with 
the underlying theme of protecting the public. Therefore it is inevitable that in 
order to make best use of resources some work will be prioritised over other 
work. Sometimes the priorities afforded to work by officers using their 
professional judgement may not match the perceived priorities allocated by 
members of the public, and this mismatch can result in complaints to local 
councillors, MPs and the Ombudsman. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 Food security is a recognised risk2 and environmental health work and the 
council’s role as a category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act can 
assist with the mitigation of this risk.

1 https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/HS-offences-definitive-guideline-FINAL-
web.pdf accessed 10/03/2016
2 See for example http://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pas96-2014-food-drink-protection-guide.pdf 
accessed 10/03/2016

Page 10

https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/HS-offences-definitive-guideline-FINAL-web.pdf
https://www.sentencingcouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/HS-offences-definitive-guideline-FINAL-web.pdf
http://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pas96-2014-food-drink-protection-guide.pdf


- 3 -

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 None directly arising from this report however at periods of high demand 
appropriate contractors or casual staff may be procured to assist with food 
hygiene inspections.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 None directly arising from this report, although there are links between climate 
change, food hygiene, food security, and availability.  

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities “maintain 
a safe and healthy community”, “protect and enhance the environment”, “help 
build a strong local economy”, “engage with our communities and provide value 
for money” and is linked to statutory provisions under food safety and hygiene 
legislation.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out in connection with the 
food safety and hygiene activities that are carried out by the council and no 
adverse differential impacts have been identified.

Name of author Cheryll Brown 
Title Team Leader (Public Health and Protection)
Date February 2017

Appendices 

Appendix A – Food Safety Service Plan 2018/19

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2017/18

Appendix A

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Public Health and Protection              
                                                                                                                   
                                                                               

Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018-2019

Page 13



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 1

CONTENTS

SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 2

Aims and Objectives

BACKGROUND 3
Profile of the Local Authority

Organisational Structure

Scope of the Food Service

Demands on the Food Safety Service

Regulation Policy

SERVICE DELIVERY 6
Inspections due 2018-2019

Food safety Interventions

Category C/D Food Business Interventions

Alternative Enforcement Strategy

Other Food Interventions

Food Sampling

Primary Authority

Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease

Food Safety Incident/Alerts

Food Fraud

Imported Food

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

Business Growth & Development

Food Safety Promotion

Liaison with other Organisations

  RESOURCES 12
Financial Allocation

Staffing Allocation

Staff Development Plan

Quality Assurance

  REVIEW 13
Review against the Service Plan

Identification of any Variation from the Review

Improvement Plan 2015/2016

CONTACT INFORMATION 14    

Page 14



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 2

SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

Aims and Objectives
One purpose of the Public Health and Protection Service is to work with relevant central 
government agencies to enforce statutory provisions and to provide education, 
guidance and emergency intervention to ensure the health of persons living, working 
and spending leisure time in the Borough is not adversely affected by physical, 
chemical or biological hazards.  Part of this work involves appointing persons as 
Authorised Officers under the Food Safety Act 1990 to regulate food safety in the 
borough.

Specific objectives of the Public Health and Protection Service in connection with food 
safety are:

 To enforce the relevant statutory provisions and provide advice and education in 
order that duty holders are able to achieve and maintain a good standard of food 
hygiene throughout all food premises in the Borough.

 To ensure that at all levels of the food chain, all food prepared, sold or offered for 
sale is wholesome and fit for human consumption.

 To make a significant contribution to controlling the spread of infectious disease by 
carrying out investigative work on outbreaks and individual cases, in conjunction 
with the appropriate officers of Public Health England, and other partners as 
necessary.

 To meet local demand for low cost training in food hygiene and to identify and 
respond to new training needs.

 To respond to food related aspects of civil emergencies and maintain a core of 
Officers having ministerial authorisation as investigation and enforcement officers 
under the Food and Environment Protection Act.

 To operate the service in accordance with the relevant Code of Practice and the    
requirements of the Food Standards Agency.

 To contribute and assist in the achievement of better health and wellbeing for our 
communities. 

 To work with partners to maintain a safe community.

This work underpins the council’s corporate vision, priorities and values which include 
a commitment to:

 Maintain a safe and healthy community 

 Protect and enhance the environment

Page 15



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 3

 Help build a strong local economy  
BACKGROUND

Profile of the Local Authority
Welwyn Hatfield Council is a blend of old and new and covers an area of approximately 
130 square kilometres of mid Hertfordshire.  It is made up of both urban and rural 
communities, with the towns of Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield the main commercial 
centres, with eight other large villages and settlements.  Welwyn Hatfield Council area 
has a population of approximately 122,000, the population has grown by 10.4% since 
the 2011 census.  Welwyn Hatfield is generally a prosperous area but there are some 
pockets of deprivation and disadvantage.

Organisational Structure
The Environmental Health Team is part of the Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance Directorate. The Environmental Health Team sits within the Public Health 
and Protection Service.

Figure 1: General Structure of Public Health and Protection Service 

Head of Public 
Health and 
Protection

Environmental 
Health (includes 
Public Health)

Licensing Hackney 
Carriage

Risk and 
Resilience

Under the Head of Service for Public Health & Protection, Environmental Health 
services are delivered by two Team Leaders posts, three Environmental Health Officer 
posts and four Technical Officers. In addition we have employed three Environmental 
Health Officers on casual contracts.  In addition there is one part time health 
improvement officer whose work includes to a lesser degree the delivery of food safety 
promotion, with a greater emphasis towards wider public health and healthy eating 
projects.

The Council Constitution provides delegated authority to environmental health staff 
and appoints the Consultant(s) in Communicable Disease Control working for Public 
Health England as the “Proper Officer” for communicable disease control.

Specialist services are provided by external agencies such as the Food Examiner and 
the Public Analyst.

Page 16



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 4

Welwyn Hatfield Council is in a 2 tier area and has adopted a Leader and Cabinet 
system of government.  Policy decisions on food safety matters are submitted for 
approval to the Environmental Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then in turn to 
the Cabinet and the Full Council.

Scope of the Food Service
The food service covers the following areas of work:

 Food Hygiene Inspections and Revisits
 Food Safety Enforcement
 Food Sampling
 Food Hygiene Training 
 Food Hygiene Advice and Public Information.
 Food Complaint Investigations
 Food Alerts
 Infectious Disease Investigations

In addition to the above, the officers who deal with food safety also cover many other 
aspects of Environmental Health work.  This includes:

 Health and Safety at Work – proactive and reactive inspection, accident 
investigation, training.

 Provision of advice and guidance within the scope of the Safety Advisory Team
 Pollution Control for example, statutory nuisance, permitted premises and private 

water sampling
 Public Health including taking the lead on delivering the public health agenda for 

the Council through health protection, health promotion and improvement
 Consultations for Planning and Licensing applications, temporary event notices

All officers within Environmental Health work generically providing a full range of 
services within the field. All officers are expected to prioritise a workload that includes 
a range of cases both of a proactive and reactive nature and a risk profile suitable for 
their role.

Page 17



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 5

Demands on the Food Service
Approximately 264 food inspections are due to be carried out in 2018/19 across all 
premises and risk categories, this includes the routine inspections due and current 
outstanding new registrations. The total number of food businesses registered with us 
can be split into the following types:

FSA Code (Premises Type) Numbers
Caring Premises 34
Takeaway 38
Distributor 21
Hotel/Guest House 11
Importer 3
Manufacturer selling mainly by retail 1
Manufacturer/processor 15
Mobile Food Unit 34
Pub/Club 60
Restaurant/Caterer – other 235
Restaurant/Café/Canteen 190
Retailer – other 51

School/college 77
Smaller retailer 82
Supermarkets/Hypermarkets 20

Total 872

Food hygiene inspections are carried out on a regular basis, to ensure that food is 
stored, prepared, handled and sold from this Borough is safe for consumers to eat.  
The length of time between inspections is determined by carrying out a risk 
assessment against pre-determined criteria prescribed by the Food Standards 
Agency within the Food Law Code of Practice.  

We currently have one food business that is an approved establishment; this food 
business is approved for the supply of fishery products. This business does not 
present any complex processes for inspection purposes.

Regulation Policy
The Environmental Health service follows the Corporate Enforcement Policy to inform 
enforcement activity in food safety.  The Corporate Enforcement Policy, which is 
currently under review, embraces the Better Regulation principles of targeting, 
proportionality, accountability, consistency and transparency.  If the revised policy is 
adopted by Full Council then we will work within the scope of the new policy.

Page 18



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 6

SERVICE DELIVERY

Inspections due 2018 - 2019
The Food Law Code of Practice (England) 2015 details the five risk categories of food 
premises with each class of risk group having a specific minimum frequency of 
intervention.  The number of premises in each category due to be inspected is detailed 
below:

Risk 
Category

Frequency of Inspection Numbers in 
category 2017/18

2018/19*

Category A Inspection, partial 
inspection or audit at least 
every 6 months

9 1

Category B Inspection, partial 
inspection or audit at least 
every 12 months

34 35

Category C Inspection, partial 
inspection or audit every 18 
months unless the business 
is ‘broadly compliant’ when 
planned interventions can 
then alternate between 
either an inspection, partial 
inspection, audit or other 
type of official control.

190 71

Category D Intervention at least every 2 
years and dependant on 
‘type of food’ and ‘method of 
handling’ as defined in the 
food law code of practice.

90 68

Category E Alternative enforcement 
strategy or intervention at 
least once every 3 years

200 89

Unrated This figure is constantly 
changing as businesses 
register throughout the year.  
New registrations are 
prioritised for inspection 
based on risk. 

73 89

*Figures estimated at the time of writing February 2018 

Page 19



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 7

Food Safety Interventions

Interventions

Official Controls
Inspections/Audits

Sampling Visits
Monitoring visits

Surveillance visits
Verification

Other Interventions
Education

Advice
Coaching
Seminar

Information and intelligence 
gathering

Category C/D food business interventions
In 2018/19 the service plans to continue utilising the flexibility of the Food Law Code 
of Practice in that it will use other types of official control intervention for those category 
C businesses which are currently rated as ‘broadly compliant’.

The term ‘broadly compliant’ relates to the way a food business complies with food 
hygiene legislation based on the inspecting officer’s risk rating at the time of the last 
inspection/partial inspection or audit.  The food hygiene scoring system in prescribed 
in the Food Law Code of Practice. 

A food business will be classed as broadly compliant, if they score in the manner 
described below in the categories listed. 

a) Hygiene compliance record          = 10 or less
b) Structural compliance record        = 10 or less
c) Confidence in management          = 10 or less

Therefore in order to be classed as broadly compliant the business should score 10 or 
less in each category a) to c), and have a total of 30 or less for the sum of the 
categories. 

Category D food interventions will also utilise the flexibility allowed within the Food Law 
Code of Practice enabling both official controls and other interventions to be used 
based upon the last recorded risk rating.

Alternative Enforcement Strategy/Low Risk Establishments
Category E food businesses shall be subject to an alternative enforcement strategy 
rather than by means of official control.  Typically this may be by assessment by a 
Regulatory Support Officer based upon known compliance history combined with 
telephone or written communication with the food business operator.

Page 20



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 8

Other Food Interventions
It is difficult to determine the exact number of requests for service that we will 
receive, though it should be noted that we have continued to experience an increase 
in complaints received rising to 57 in 2017/18. The number of food related enquiries 
has decreased to 15 in 2017/18. 

Such complaints and enquiries place unplanned demands on our service, but an 
effective response can maintain consumer confidence in local food businesses and 
improve standards. Complaints are also a key way in which we can gain intelligence 
about food businesses. 

We estimate that approximately 1 in every 3 of our food safety inspections will 
require re-visits.  Revisits may be either to ensure compliance with legal 
requirements or at the business’ request for a Food Hygiene Rating re-scoring 
inspection.  

FHRS requests for revisits have remained at a similar level with 28 request in 
2017/18 (29 during 2016/17). Following an amendment to the ‘brand standard’, the 
Food Standards Agency guidance for the delivery of the Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme, the Council will introduce cost recovery charging for those businesses that 
request a revisit from April 2018.  This charge is listed within the Council’s fees and 
charges and has been agreed at £180 per visit.

We will continue to prioritise the education of food businesses through food safety 
newsletters, these will increase in frequency in 2018/19, with a newsletter being sent 
out every two months, as our main means of communication directly with all food 
businesses.  The newsletter is emailed where possible with a small proportion now 
sent out by mail.  In addition to newsletters  face to face advice is provided at the 
time of inspection and during the delivery of food hygiene training courses, which 
continue to be well attended.

Imported Food
As an inland authority our imported food controls are embedded within our routine 
inspection planned visits.  We have prompts within our aide memoire to check the 
traceability of foods.  We have a limited number of food businesses that are the first 
destination inland after import and in these premises import documentation can be 
checked.
Our team of officers maintain competency in imported food control through 
formalised training and their experience in this field.  Where food fails to meet food 
safety requirements officers have sufficient competency to act appropriately and we 
will take enforcement action.
We are aware that there will potentially be an increase in workload and certainly 
legislative changes post Brexit that we will keep abreast of during this year via 
updates from the Food Standards Agency.

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme
The service is committed to deliver the national food hygiene rating scheme which 
rates food businesses on a scoring system of 0 (urgent improvement necessary) - 5 
(very good) based on compliance at the time of the last routine inspection.  

Page 21



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 9

As stated above the scheme will introduce a charge for requests for revisits made by 
businesses from April 2018.  We do not anticipate a significant increase on demand 
following this change in policy.

Food Sampling
It is the Council's policy to participate, where appropriate and where resources permit, 
in national, regional and locally coordinated sampling programmes.  
Welwyn Hatfield Council has a credit allocation with Public Health England which is set 
at the beginning of each financial year.  In the 2018/2019 financial year, the allocation 
for Welwyn Hatfield Council is the same as previous years of 3720 credits (25–50 
credits are required depending on the nature of each sample).

We plan to take part in the some of the coordinated sampling programmes set by Public 
Health England for 2018-2019. At the time of writing these programmes have not been 
confirmed.  In addition we will participate in co-ordinated sampling projects within Herts 
and Beds.

Sampling will also be undertaken, where appropriate, in relation to food poisoning 
outbreaks and food complaints, where formal action is being considered. The Authority 
will also sample, where necessary, any high-risk manufacturers within the district, and 
any businesses with which we have a primary authority agreement.

In respect of Microbiological Examination our samples will be sent to: 
London Food, Water and Environmental Microbiological Laboratory,
Central Public Health Laboratory,
61 Colindale Avenue 
London    NW9 5HT

Samples for analysis will only be taken in response to customer complaints when 
appropriate and considered necessary. The Public Analyst appointed by 
Hertfordshire County Council and therefore used by Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
Council are:  Hampshire & Kent Scientific Services, 

Public Protection, Growth, Environment & Transport
Kent County Council, 
8 Abbey Wood Road
Kings Hill 
West Malling, 
Kent 
ME19 4YT 

Primary Authority
The service now has two Primary Authority agreements for food hygiene. This 
involves the delivery of around 155 hours of food safety support per year.  
A Team Leader and an Environmental Health Officer will deliver this agreement 
which includes the provision of advice, guidance, and the investigation of complaints 
liaising as appropriate with other enforcement authorities.

We are open to the development of further primary authority agreements with either 
locally based or other multi-site companies.  Given that primary authority support is 

Page 22



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 10

provided through the existing staffing allocation currently, we must be careful to 
ensure we select relationships that suit the resource and skills available.

The Primary Authority scheme has now been extended and all businesses are 
eligible to join regardless of size.  Primary Authority is anticipated to have increased 
legal weighting in the future within the Food Standards Agency’s review of food 
delivery, Regulating Our Future.

Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease
When food poisonings occur, our officers become involved in investigating the cause 
and identifying any unsafe food that is still in the food chain to help prevent further 
cases of illness.  
In the event of an outbreak, the resource demand would be significantly higher due to 
the intensive staffing requirements when dealing with such eventualities.  This would 
be accommodated by diverting resources from other less critical environmental 
health work.

It is difficult to predict the number of cases of food poisoning that we will need to 
investigate during the coming year, in 2017/18 we were notified of 54 residents 
suffering from infectious diseases from Public Health England with no food poisoning 
outbreaks reported. All notifications are investigated.

Food Safety Incidents/Alerts
A ‘food alert for action’ is a communication from the Food Standards Agency to food 
authorities concerning a food hazard or other food incident and should be read 
accordingly.

The agency may require action by us in response to these alerts and we have a 
documented procedure for dealing with such incidents. It is difficult to determine the 
resource such incidents require on an annual basis as it is dependent on the nature 
of the action required and the number of food business it affects locally.

Food Fraud
Food fraud is committed when food is placed on the market with the aim of 
deliberately misleading the consumer. Food fraud is carried out for financial gain and 
has become an ever increasing phenomenon nationally. Food Fraud can give rise 
serious health risks. 
Examples of food fraud include;

 Recycling of animal –by-products back into the food chain
 Packing and selling of beef and poultry with unknown origin
 Knowingly selling goods which are past their ‘use by’ dates
 Deliberate false mis-description of food for example cheaper alternatives, 

peanuts instead of almonds, farmed salmon sold as wild, the widely publicised 
use of horse meat.

Our Service helps to prevent and act upon food fraud by responding to FSA food 
alerts, and reporting suspicions or information gained through our routine 
interventions with business and the community. Tackling food fraud ensures that 
there is a level playing field for all businesses and encourages a vibrant economy.  

Page 23



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 11

Business Growth & Development
The food industry is regulated by a range of legislation that aims to keep our food 
safe. Our work with food businesses is focused on helping them to comply with food 
safety legislation. 

The Council helps businesses achieve compliance in various ways

 Advice given during the course of inspections and other visits.
 By responding to enquiries.
 By offering a comprehensive advice service to new businesses.
 Offering low cost food hygiene training courses.

The Council is also part of a Hertfordshire wide initiative called ‘Better Business for All’, 
which seeks to reduce regulatory burdens on business and support growth in the 
County.  In 2018/19 we will continue to support businesses by looking for opportunities 
with our Economic Development Officer, Town Centre teams and other regulatory 
services.  

It is the aim of the Service to deliver the following food hygiene training courses during 
the coming year:
 6 Level 2 Award Food Hygiene (Basic – 1 day course)
 3 Level 3 Award Food Hygiene (Intermediate – 3 day course)

Food Safety Promotion
During 2018/19, we will aim to promote food safety through:

 Supporting Food Safety Week. A national campaign that runs every June. 
Supporting the range of events that run locally and are bought to our attention 
through the safety advisory team.  This year we anticipate our greatest focus 
will be the Food Festival in Welwyn Garden City.

 Distribution of 5 food safety newsletters throughout the year to all food 
businesses

 Active involvement in the planning and delivery of two Healthfest events.

Where appropriate and in line with local priorities we will also consider developing 
working partnerships with local businesses. 

Liaison with other Organisations
The Council is committed to ensuring the enforcement approach it takes is transparent 
and consistent with other local authorities.

Regular meetings are held with Herts and Beds Food Study Topic Group. 
Representatives from the Food Standards Agency and Public Health England are also 
in attendance at these meetings.

Page 24



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 12

RESOURCES

Financial Allocation
The Public Health and Protection Service is allocated an annual budget as agreed by 
the Council’s Cabinet and Full Council which is set out in the Council budget book.  
This is published and with regard specifically to the delivery of the food service 
allocates budget for:

 Computer software
 Consultancy fees including specialist and legal advice
 Laboratory examination
 Promotional materials
 Personal protective equipment for food officers
 Sampling
 Technical equipment for food officers
 Training and development of food officers
 Travel (including car mileage)

There is no growth or reduction in budget that will affect the delivery of the food service 
in 2018/19. However enforcement cases may require additional spend over and above 
that allocated in the base budget at the start of the year. 

Staffing Allocation
The number of staff working on food law enforcement cannot be accurately equated 
on a full time equivalent basis.  Whilst figures have previously been included in the 
service plan the generic way in which we are currently working does not facilitate an 
accurate figure to be calculated.

As stated above, the officers undertaking food safety work also carry out other 
Environmental Health work.   There are currently five full time authorised officers who 
are actively involved in the delivery of the food service, with the addition of casual staff.  
The degree of involvement varies according to other responsibilities and duties and 
the overall risk profile of their current workload. 

Technical Officers undertake food safety work to a level appropriate to their 
qualifications and in accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice.

A team of support officers is available to assist the food officers in the delivery of their 
work.  The support officers also support the delivery of all other aspects of the 
environmental health service.  Within our support team we have one Regulatory 
Support Officer, this post has additional responsibilities with regard to the delivery of 
the food service.

Staff Development Plan
The Authority will ensure that all officers involved in food safety work receive ongoing 
training in order to maintain and improve their level of competency and comply with the 
Food Law Code of Practice (England).

The Food Law Code of Practice 2015 included revised competency and qualification 
requirements for authorised officers.  

Page 25



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 13

These come into force on 6th April 2016 and require both officers and the lead officer 
for food to fulfil a number of skills and knowledge.

Quality Assurance
The following monitoring arrangements are in place:
 Paper/computer based checks in respect of food hygiene inspections.
 Paper/computer based checks in respect of food complaints.
 Shadow inspections for new staff or those returning to food work
 Peer review/audit of enforcement action in respect of food safety work.

REVIEW

Review against the Service Plan
As part of the service planning process, a full review of all activities referred to in this 
document will be undertaken. 

Identification of any Variation from the Review
The review will identify where the Authority is at variance from the service plan and, if 
appropriate, the reasons for that variance.

Areas of Improvement
The Authority will set out any relevant improvement plan identified as necessary by the 

review. This is in addition to the matters identified and agreed in the public 
health and protection annual service plan and the council business plan. 

Improvement Plan for 2018/2019
1 Undertake continual review and revision of all existing food policies and 

amend as necessary to reflect current good practice and working methods, 
especially with reference to the Regulating Our Future programme being 
delivered by the Food Standards Agency and the implication to food safety 
legislation by Brexit.

2. Continue to develop the use of social media in delivering food safety 
messages.

3. Start to deliver Eat Out Eat Well, healthy food award.
4. Maintain and update the food safety content of the Council’s website
5. Deliver two food business seminars targeted at poorly performing food 

businesses, rated ‘2’ or below.
6. Deliver an additional food qualification, RSPH level 2 Nutrition for Health.
7. Undertake a customer satisfaction survey with food businesses.

Page 26



Food Safety Service Delivery Plan 2018/19 14

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Environmental Health Service is located at:

The Council Offices,
The Campus,
Welwyn Garden City,
Hertfordshire
AL8 6AE

Service users may contact officers in the following ways:

 By mail
 In person at the reception to the above premises
 By telephone between 8.45am and 5.15pm (4.45pm on a Friday) on 01707 357242
 By email: e.health@welhat.gov.uk.  In addition, each officer has their own email 

address
 Through local Councillors

Complaints against the Service should be put in writing to Cheryll Brown, Team Leader 
(Public Health & Protection) at the above address or by email to 
c.brown@welhat.gov.uk   Customers may also have recourse to the local government 
ombudsman.

Appeals against enforcement action must be lodged with the appropriate Court or 
tribunal within the statutory timescale. 

The majority of food safety work is carried out during the above office hours, although 
officers may conduct inspections out of hours if it is felt necessary to do so.

An out of office hours service for serious food emergencies can be contacted via the 
Welwyn Hatfield Council Emergency Contact Centre on 0800 1114484.

Page 27

mailto:e.health@welhat.gov.uk.
mailto:c.brown@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 8 (b)
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 9 JULY 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 5 June 2018:-

4.2 Corporate Enforcement Policy (Forward Plan Reference FP855)

The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 March 2018 on 
approval of a Policy covering the enforcement work of a number of Council 
teams.

The Council was responsible for regulating and enforcing a number of legal 
provisions and the “Regulators code” set out the requirements and 
expectations for good enforcement. In order to ensure the Council adhered 
to the principles of good enforcement, the current corporate enforcement 
policy had been updated to reflect current working arrangements. The new 
policy was agreed by the Environment and Overview Scrutiny Committee.

The Cabinet agreed the draft Corporate Enforcement Policy and 
RECOMMENDS it to the Council for approval.

Page 29

Agenda Item 8b



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Item No: 12
Main author:
Executive Member: Bernard Sarson

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 26 MARCH 2018
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report updates members on the work which has been undertaken to produce 
a corporate enforcement policy covering the enforcement work of a number of 
council service areas. The report explains the results of a consultation process 
and presents a final draft of the policy at appendix A. 

2.0     Recommendations

2.1     For members to consider and agree that the final draft of the policy in appendix A, 
is sent Cabinet for agreement and ultimately, approval of Full Council to bring it 
into effect. 

3. Explanation

3.1 Welwyn Hatfield Council is responsible for regulating and enforcing a number of 
legal provisions. Examples include activities undertaken by environmental health, 
licensing, private sector housing, environmental services and hackney carriage 
teams.  

3.2 The “Regulators code” sets out the requirements and expectations for good 
enforcement. This includes adherence to the principles of proportionality, 
transparency and accountability. Specifically where a regulatory function of the 
council is specified in accordance with the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 
2006 then the council must have regard to the Regulators Code 

3.3 The policy sets out enforcement matters which apply to all these service areas.  It    
is also worth noting that individual service areas may produce their own protocols 
setting out how particular enforcement tools will be used at an operational level. 

3.4 Following the agreement of a draft policy at the EOSC meeting in November 2017, 
Members agreed that the draft policy should be released for appropriate and 
suitable consultation. Members also agreed the stakeholders who should be 
consulted. In addition the draft policy was also placed on the council website.

3.5 A summary of comments received are shown in appendix B.  In total 9 responses     
were received. 

3.6 Members are now asked to consider and agree that the final draft of the policy in 
appendix A, is sent Cabinet for agreement and ultimately, approval of Full Council 
to bring it into effect. 

Page 31



- 2 -

Implications

4.0 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 In general, the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act (and other legislation) 
governs the way the council enforces various statutes. Best practice is that an 
enforcement policy is produced having regard to the Statutory Regulators Code 
produced by central government. 

4.2 An enforcement policy which has been agreed with members and produced 
following consultation with key individuals/organisations and contractual partners 
can be relied upon to assist in determining enforcement actions 

4.3 Case law shows that where an enforcement policy has been adopted but is not 
followed, this can create legal challenges. 

5.0  Financial Implication(s)

5.2     None directly arising from this report. Policy development is a normal part of day   
to day activities and should be met from existing departmental budgets. Similarly 
enforcement work is an expected activity of the council as a regulator and this 
work is provided for in existing departmental budgets.  

6.0 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The council is at risk if it undertakes enforcement action outside of an agreed 
policy framework. This could be a risk of legal challenge or of damage to 
reputation. 

6.2 A further risk arises from inconsistency if various services within the council are 
enforcing against the same organisation/individual and are applying different 
standards. Implementing an agreed common enforcement policy will help mitigate 
these risks.  

7.0   Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1       None arising from this report

8.0       Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 None arising from this report.

9.0  Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1  None arising from this report.

10.0 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 I confirm that the subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority 
Maintain a safe and healthy community, protect and enhance our environment 

Page 32



- 3 -

and engage with our community. It is also linked to a statutory 
provisions/guidance under licensing, safety and emergency planning legislation.

11.0 Equality and Diversity

11.1 No negative impacts were identified on any of the protected groups under Equalities 
legislation. 

Name of author Joanna Harding
Title Head of Public Health and Protection 
Date January 2018

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 25

Appendix A

6 

Corporate Enforcement
Policy

Approved by Full Council 

Version 1.0

Key information on this document
Purpose This policy is a general statement of the 

approaches to be taken regarding enforcement 
and will assist in making decisions

Intended target Authorised Officers, regulated entities
Status Fully open
Owned by Heads of Service
Review 
arrangements

Periodic review and update in response to new 
legislation, guidance or other relevant information

Page 35



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 2 of 256 

CONTENTS

1.0 Scope...................................................................................................................4
2.0 Background ........................................................................................................5
3.0 Enforcement Precepts .......................................................................................5
4.0 Levels of Enforcement Action............................................................................9
5.0 Investigation of Offences ................................................................................11
6.0 Formal Enforcement Options .........................................................................15
7.0 General ..............................................................................................................19
8.0 Monitoring and Review ..................................................................................20
9.0 Training .............................................................................................................20
10.0 Complaints........................................................................................................20
11. Statutory right(s) of appeal .............................................................................22
Appendix A. Example data protection request form ...............................................23
Appendix B. Example enforcement peer review sheet ............................................24

Page 36



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 3 of 256 

Table acronyms and abbreviations used in the main text

Acronym/abbreviation Meaning or definition
PACE Police and Criminal Evidence Act
NDR Non Domestic Rates
RIPA Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act
HSE Health and Safety Executive
The Code The Code for Crown Prosecutors
LA Local Authority
LGO Local Government Ombudsman

Page 37



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 4 of 256 

1.0 Scope

1.1 This policy is applicable to enforcement of the following areas of legislation by the 
Council, its Officers or contractors:

 Environmental  Health  (including  food  safety,  pollution  control,  health 
and safety at work)

 Licensing
 Taxis and private hire
 Environment including parking, litter/waste and dog control
 Planning
 Housing including Private Sector Housing 
 Anti Social Behaviour
 Debt Recovery(Sundry Debtors)
 Council Tax/non domestic rates (NDR)

1.2 This policy provides guidance to Authorised Officers3 and information to Elected 
Members and the public.

1.3 This policy is applicable to all Council employees working in the above areas and those 
from other service areas who support the delivery of these functions. It is also 
applicable to agency/contract staff working on behalf of the Council.

1.4 Where this policy refers to legislation, codes of practice, guidance and similar; that 
reference includes any subsequent amendments/updates to such legislation, codes of 
practice or guidance.

1.5 In carrying out enforcement work, we will follow relevant legislation and have 
regard to associated guidance, codes of practice and similar.

1.6 This policy is a general statement of the approaches to be taken regarding enforcement 
and will assist in making decisions; individual service areas may have their own 
operational procedures and guidance which set out how the various enforcement tools 
available to the council may be used.

1.7 The Council constitution sets out the scheme of delegation and the enforcement remit 
and responsibilities of individual officers and committees.

1.8 This policy is the council food law enforcement policy and the health and safety 
enforcement policy.

3 In this document the term “authorised officer” is used to mean an officer of the Council 
authorised in writing to carry out enforcement activities on behalf of the Council. It includes other 
designations such as “inspector”, “appointed officer”, “designated person” and similar terms as 
well as a committee or sub-committee of the Council acting under delegated powers to enforce a 
particular provision on behalf of the Council

Page 38



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 5 of 256 

2.0 Background

2.1 Previously various Council service areas have had service specific enforcement 
policies. This is the first version of the corporate Enforcement Policy applying to 
multiple service areas.  Service areas may also have their own service specific 
procedures/protocols regarding enforcement to which they may have regard when 
carrying out their regulatory work.

2.2 This policy sets out the steps Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council will use to secure 
compliance with the law while minimising the burden on individuals, businesses and 
the Council.

2.3 This policy is based on the statutory principles of good regulation4, namely:
 Proportionality: to ensure that action taken relates directly to the actual or 

potential risk (for example to health, safety or the environment.)
 Accountability: to a number of interested parties. This may include 

Welwyn Hatfield Council elected members, local and national businesses, 
members of the public and national regulatory bodies.

 Consistency: to ensure that similar issues are dealt with in the same way, 
having regard to and making full use of guidance produced by 
Government and other national agencies.

 Transparency: to ensure enforcement action to be taken by the Council 
is easily understood. Clear distinctions will be made between legal 
requirements and recommendations about good practice which are not 
compulsory.

 Targeted: regulation will only take place in cases where action is needed

2.4 In carrying out its function as a regulator the Council will try to avoid imposing 
unnecessary regulatory burdens. Before undertaking enforcement action the Council 
will generally assess whether similar social environmental or economic outcomes 
could be achieved by means other than formal enforcement.

3.0 Enforcement Precepts
3.1 Immediate enforcement actions

The Council will generally welcome pre-enforcement dialogue with regulated entities 
or individuals to ensure requirements and enforcement matters are understood and 
that action is proportionate and consistent. However, where immediate action is 
required to prevent or respond to a serious breach or where providing an opportunity 
for enforcement dialogue would be likely to defeat the purpose of enforcement, the 
Council may take relevant action without necessarily discussing it in advance.

These are provided in the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006, s21.4

Page 39



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 6 of 256 

3.2 Decisions will be made on the basis of risk
In undertaking enforcement functions the Council will ensure that enforcement 
action is undertaken on the basis of risk. We will take an evidence based approach 
to determining priority risks and will allocate resources to where they would be 
most effective in addressing priority risks. Risks will be considered at every stage 
of the enforcement decision making process, including when choosing the most 
appropriate type of intervention or enforcement action. Risk assessment may 
include an evaluation of hazards, risks, compliance history and other relevant data. 
The Council will generally use risk assessment methodologies provided by central 
government but may on occasion design in house systems and where practical 
these will be subject to consultation. 

3.3 Objectivity and Equality:
We will ensure that enforcement decisions are not influenced by a person’s age, 
disability, race (including nationality), religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, 
gender re-assignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity 
status. The Council will consider its Equality and Diversity Policy when determining 
what enforcement action we are considering and how we communicate the message. 
We believe in the dignity of all people and their right to respect and equality of 
opportunity. We value the strength that comes with difference and the positive 
contribution that diversity brings to Welwyn Hatfield
Proportionate enforcement actions will be considered having regard to business size 
and capacity.

3.4  Safeguarding
The Council will consider the desirability of using formal enforcement in the case of a 
person who is elderly or is, or was at the relevant time, suffering from significant 
mental or physical ill health. It will balance this with the need to safeguard others, 
taking into account the public interest. The Council will consider its Safeguarding 
policies when determining what enforcement action we are considering. We are 
committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, young people and 
vulnerable adults. We take our responsibilities seriously and expect all of our staff to 
share this commitment Safeguarding policies.

3.5 Regulators Compliance Code
This enforcement policy has been made having regard to the Regulators’ C ode 
issued by the Department for Business Innovation and Skills.

3.6 Clarity on what is required
In undertaking enforcement activities enforcement officers will clearly differentiate 
between what is required and what is recommended. This means that when 
providing advice and guidance, legal requirements will be distinguished from suggested 
good practice and the impact of the advice or guidance will be considered so that is 
does not impose unnecessary burdens in itself. Regulated entities are welcome to 
discuss and seek clarity on what is required if it is not clear.

3.7 Shared Enforcement
The range of enforcement matters dealt with by the Council is such that there may 
well be occasions when there is a need to work with other departments and 
agencies to maximise effective enforcement. For  example  the  work  related death 

Page 40



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 7 of 256 

protocol facilitates joint working in case of fatalities, other examples would include 
working with the Police, Fire Service, Health and Safety Executive, Environment 
Agency, Gambling Commission, immigration and county Council services. Where 
necessary, appropriate information sharing agreements will be put in place to share 
data in a timely and appropriate way having due regard to the requirements of the 
Data Protection Act.  This will include trying to use the “collect once, use many” 
principle of data capture.

3.8 Access to enforcement services
The Council is committed to ensuring fair, timely and effective enforcement and 
access to services. In relation to enforcement the following arrangements are in place:

 All enforcement related documents will be produced in appropriate plain 
English; we may however need to use specific legal words or phrases 
where their meaning is important. The onus is on the recipient of any 
document to ensure they understand its meaning and any implications for 
them.

 Where necessary, attempts will be made for the use of interpreters or 
translations. This may include during sub-committee hearings, or during 
interviews. Any person wishing to use an interpreter is expected to make 
this clear early on in any investigation so arrangements can be made.

 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council provides a limited range of services 
outside of office hours. Arrangements are in place to respond to genuine 
emergencies through a duty officer system on a 24-7 basis.

 Where necessary, appropriate and possible in order to support investigation 
and enforcement, visits may be made outside normal office hours.

 The Council will consider the impact their regulatory interventions may have 
on economic progress; including thorough consideration of the costs, 
effectiveness and perceptions of fairness of regulation.

3.9 Customer expectation and service standards
The Council has a customer service charter which sets out general standards 
applicable to customer service. Additionally the Council has published a clear set 
of service standards applicable to enforcement activity which is available on the 
Council website.

Each service area covered by this policy is responsible for producing a set of 
service standards appropriate for their regulatory activities. The standards will set 
out what those they regulate should expect from them and:

 how the service communicates with those they regulate and how the 
service can be contacted

 the service’s approaches to providing information, guidance and advice
 the service’s approach to checks on compliance, including details of any 

risk assessment framework(s) used, and protocols for staff conduct
 reference to this enforcement policy in dealing with matters of regulatory 

non compliance
 how to comment or complain about the service provided and routes to any 

appeal that may be available
The service standards and a copy of this enforcement policy will be placed on the Council 
website.

Page 41



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 8 of 256 

3.10 The council is at risk if it undertakes enforcement action outside of an agreed policy 
framework. A further risk arises from inconsistency if various services within the council 
are enforcing against the same organisation/individual and are applying different 
standards. Implementing an agreed common enforcement policy will help mitigate these 
risks.  

Page 42



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 9 of 256 

4.0 Levels of Enforcement Action
4.1 In responding to non- compliance, enforcement officers will clearly explain what

 the non  compliant  item or  activity is,  the advice that  is  being  given,  actions
 required  or  decisions taken  and  the  reasons  for  these. An opportunity for
dialogue will be provided in relation to the advice, requirements or decisions, with a     
view to ensuring that the officer is acting in a way which is proportionate and 
consistent. However, this need not be the case where the enforcement action is 
required to prevent or respond to a serious breach or where providing such an 
opportunity for dialogue would be likely to defeat the purpose of the proposed 
enforcement action.

4.2 Officers will comply with the Human Rights Act wherever it applies. Officers will   
ensure that all enforcement action is justified, auditable, proportionate, authorised, 
and necessary having regard to the circumstances of the individual case. 

4.3 As a regulator, the Council recognises that there are a range of enforcement tools 
available, sanctioning and penalty powers available. These range from informal 
approaches through to formal action such as notices, prosecutions, suspensions and 
revocations.   

The pyramid of enforcement options set out below shows in a general way the 
relative severity of enforcement options. At the top of the pyramid are those sanctions 
which potentially affect a person’s liberty or ability to earn a living. The exact 
enforcement tools available will vary with the offence under consideration.

Page 43



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 10 of 256 

4.4 The Council’s Authorised Officers will usually choose which level to start at depending on 
the offence, the seriousness of the situation and the level of intent of the offender. They 
will seek compliance with legislation by one or a combination of methods set out below 
having carefully considered the relevant legislation, circumstances of the case, risks tools 
available and the outcome intended.  

4.5    In general, and as shown below this means that enforcement will move from level
1 through to level 3, although in serious cases (as judged on the particular 
circumstances of that case) it may be appropriate to commence at level 3.

4.6 However, for some Environment offences, though the offence may be considered to 
be of a minor nature, the offence may require an immediate response at level 3 for 
an effective deterrent and outcome.

The offences of a minor nature that come under this consideration are as follows:

 Littering, that is dropping of litter, including parts of a cigarette or cigar;
 Littering, such as allowing a dog to foul in a public place and not clearing    

up the fouling in an appropriate or timely manner;
 Abandonment of a shopping trolley;
 Graffiti and other defacement

It is recognised that on occasions to follow the first two levels of enforcement 
options will not assist in the compliance of legislation. It is considered that the above 
offences can at the discretion of the enforcement officer start at the formal level 3: an 
issuance of a “Fixed Penalty Notice” (FPN).
Range of enforcement measures used by Welwyn Hatfield Council

Enforcement level Enforcement options

LEVEL 1 Advice and 
guidance

To assist individuals, existing and prospective businesses and other 
organisations to comply with their legal obligations and support economic 
growth.  This will be achieved by a variety of suitable methods.

LEVEL 2 Informal To be used to reinforce advice and guidance where minor breaches of the 
law may have been discovered but it was not thought appropriate to take 
formal action. This may include informal warnings. These warnings can be 
oral or written and can be the most appropriate course of action when minor 
contraventions are discovered.  Where warnings are issued, follow- up visits 
will normally be made to ensure steps are being taken to rectify the problem. 
Warnings issued in respect of more significant breaches of the law will 
include timescales within which the breaches should be remedied and will 
always result in follow-up visits to ensure compliance.

LEVEL 3 Formal Including the use of statutory (legal) notices, seizure, detention and render 
safe, simple cautions, prosecution, licence suspension and revocation

The Council has a number of enforcement “tools” available.  Examples include:
Request to provide information
Fixed penalty notices
Improvement notices
Prohibition notices

Page 44



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 11 of 256 

Stop notices
Seizure and destruction powers
Work in Default and Cost recovery
Simple Caution
Prosecution
Licence Suspension or revocation 
Community Protection Notices
Planning Enforcement Orders

5.0 Investigation of Offences
Legislation provides Council Authorised Officers with a wide variety of investigatory 
powers to assist them in their work. Officers will at all times have regard to the 
guiding principles of this policy and other relevant guidance when exercising their 
investigatory powers.

It is the right of persons to have legal representation in their dealings with the 
council if they so wish.

The work of the Council as a regulator, including investigations, will be subject to 
prioritisation on the basis of risk.  Once started, investigations will be conducted in a 
timely manner, in accordance with the requirements of relevant legislation, including 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act, Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, Criminal 
Procedures Investigation Act and Human Rights Act. Regard will be had to the 
requirements of associated Codes of Practice and guidance. Investigations will be 
brought to a timely conclusion.

The Council will not generally act on anonymous complaints/requests for service and 
will require all people contacting the Council to provide basic minimum information to 
assist the investigation. Failure of an individual who requests service to co-operate 
with the investigation team may limit the ability of the Council to resolve a particular 
case, particularly if a person is unwilling to provide statements or other evidence or 
attend Court as a witness on behalf of the Council.

The Council cannot assist in the negotiation for compensation from third parties on 
behalf of an individual or organisation.

5.1 Production of Authority
Authorised Officers have been provided with a Council Employee Identification Card, 
a warrant style card summarising the powers they are able to exercise, and certified 
copies of their official authorisation documents (the so called “instrument of 
appointment”). These all contain a picture of the officer. Upon request, or where 
statute demands, officers will produce appropriate and necessary identification. The 
original copies of all such documents will be kept securely for use in legal proceedings 
and will therefore not routinely be carried by officers.

The Council is aware of the Local Government Association “Cold Calling Protocol” 
and, where appropriate, officers will attempt to make an appointment before 
attending domestic premises, unless this would hinder or prejudice the progress 
of the investigation. Verification of an officer’s name and status may be obtained 
by telephoning the number on the officer’s identification card.

Page 45



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 12 of 256 

5.2 Surveillance
It may be necessary to undertake surveillance to assist with an investigation. Any 
surveillance covered by the definitions contained in the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act (RIPA) will be conducted in accordance with that Act,
appropriate guidance, corporate policy and Codes of Practice. Covert Surveillance 
will only be undertaken where:

 it is in relation to an offence carrying a minimum term of 6 months 
imprisonment or a specified offence relating to tobacco or alcohol control

 it is in the interests of preventing crime
 the use of covert surveillance is necessary and proportionate to the 

potential offence being investigated
 it  has  been  authorised  by  a  Council  authorising  officer  and  the 

authorisation has been brought into effect by a magistrate.

The Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), t h e  Head of Public Health 
and Protection and Principal Governance Officer are the Council’s appointed 
authorising officers for covert surveillance. Authorisations for surveillance where 
confidential information (as defined in the RIPA codes of practice) may be obtained 
can only be granted by the Chief Executive.  Further details are  contained  in the  
Council Corporate surveillance (RIPA) policies.

5.3 Searches
It may be necessary to conduct a search as part of an investigation. A search is 
different from an inspection. Where appropriate, subject to the relevant Codes of 
Practice where a search is undertaken a “notice of powers and rights” (often 
referred to as a PACE6 Code B Notice) should be served if:

 The officer is on someone’s property and
 There are reasonable grounds for suspecting an offence and
 The officer is gathering evidence (including taking photographs)

This includes searches conducted by authority of a warrant or by the exercise of 
statutory powers.

5.4 Interviews with Suspects
It may be necessary to conduct an interview under caution with a person (or duly 
authorised representative of a corporate body) suspected of committing an offence. 
These interviews will be conducted in accordance with the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act Codes of Practice. Wherever possible, recorded interviews will 
generally take place at the Council Offices. So called “interviews
by letter” may be undertaken, but each case will be judged on its own merits.

5.5 Serious Incident Liaison
The investigation of certain workplace incidents can be a complex issue and the 
primacy (taking the lead role) for such will vary depending on the premises where the 
incident took place and circumstances found at the time of the incident. It is the 
intention that there will be a single point of contact for the victim’s family. This 
person will be different to the lead investigating officer.
People react to grief in different ways and this policy recognises that it is essential 
that the victim’s family are kept informed throughout such a traumatic time. A liaison 
bridge between the investigation team and the victim’s family will be established for 

Page 46



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 13 of 256 

every fatality investigated by the Council.

The family of any victim of a workplace fatality investigated by the Council will be kept 
appropriately informed, particularly with regard to:

 The progress of the investigation
 Enforcement options available and actions taken
 Consequences of enforcement actions
 Penalties/ other legal remedies available

It is the responsibility of the lead investigating officer to ensure that there is 
documented contact with the victim’s family:

 At the start of the investigation – explaining the process, roles and names of 
key officers

 After any enforcement assessment has been made but before action is 
taken, thereby giving the victim’s family an opportunity to make their views 
known; unless enforcement action is urgently needed to address an imminent 
risk.

 Once any information has been laid, the exact nature of the offences should 
be notified and explained.

 Between the information being laid and the first hearing if any new information 
comes to light/course of action previously described needs to be modified.

 Before each hearing (including hearings at HM Coroners’ Court)
 After the verdict – with a view to explaining the situation and providing 

closure

Investigations in relation to workplace fatalities will be conducted in accordance with 
the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) joint protocol for liaison7 and 
investigators guide.

5.6 Liaison with Primary, Home or Lead authorities
Where it has been established that the subject of potential enforcement action has 
entered into a Primary Authority (including Home or Lead Authority Partnership or 
Scheme) with another local authority, unless the matter is one of extreme urgency, 
the council will notify the primary authority of the proposed enforcement action.

Where an inspection plan has been produced by the Primary Authority in connection 
with a regulated entity then officers are required to exercise their inspection 
function in accordance with any primary authority inspection plan.

http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/wrdp1.pdf

5.7 Data Protection
The Council will share information with other statutory enforcement agencies, 
subject to the relevant legal provisions. Before information is shared with an 
external third party, unless the Council is specifically able to do so by statute, the 
consent of the person providing the information will be obtained. Where the Council 
requests information to be provided by another organisation it may do so via service 
of data protection request notice; example provided in appendix A.

7

Page 47

http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/wrdp1.pdf


Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 14 of 256 

5.8 Freedom of Information and access to information
The Council will comply with the Freedom of Information Act and Access to 
Environmental Information Regulations. Requests for access to information will be 
dealt with in a timely manner and with reference to appropriate guidance and the 
Council Legal Team.    Requests will initially be passed to the Council’s
Freedom of Information Officer for action. Documents will be held on file for the 
required retention periods8 and then will be disposed of appropriately.

Subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act, the Data Protection Act, 
the General Data Protection Regulations and the Access to Environmental Information 
Regulations the Council can make no guarantees regarding confidentiality. Ongoing 
investigations may be subject to exemptions regarding disclosure but closed cases 
may be subject to partial or full disclosure.

5.9 Record keeping
All Authorised Officers and support officers are responsible for keeping accurate and 
appropriate notes relating to their investigations and enforcement activities. This 
includes computer logs and paper/written notes. The Council will provide appropriate 
notebooks and software for this purpose. In particular Authorised Officers should 
ensure that both actions and key decisions affecting the direction of the investigation 
are recorded.’

5.10 Collection of Evidence
Where physical evidence is collected as part of an investigation the officers 

involved in the case will ensure the evidence is stored and handled in appropriate way 
whilst it is in the Council’s  possession. This policy recognises  that an investigation 
may be compromised by the inappropriate handling of evidence or the lack of 
evidential continuity as regards a particular piece of evidence. Once evidence is in 
the possession of the Council it will not generally be released to third parties 
(including the press) except for the purposes of laboratory or other technical 
examination.

 Photographs, digital images and videos
Sometimes it may be necessary or helpful to make digital images or take 
photographs or video to assist an investigation. The authority will provide 
training and equipment for this purpose and procedures are in place to 
ensure the evidential continuity of any images made.

 Measurements and recordings
Sometimes it may be necessary or helpful to make measurements or 
recordings to assist with an investigation. The authority will provide 
appropriate training and equipment for such purposes and will ensure 
any equipment receives necessary periodic calibration.

5.11 Enforcement Decision Records
All Level 3 Enforcement Decisions made by employees will be peer reviewed. 
Each service area is responsible for producing a suitable document (paper or 
electronic) for their own needs, having regard to the legislation that they enforce 
and their own operational procedures. An example is provided at appendix B. In 
exceptional circumstances such as an emergency, out of hours or in response to 

Page 48



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 15 of 256 

a matter of evident concern found during an inspection, this policy recognises 
that such peer review may not be possible. The purpose of such a peer review is 
to provide a second opinion, check for errors and to aid consistency.

5.12 Liaison with Interested Parties
Where appropriate when enforcement action is being considered, liaison may 
take place with interested parties. For example, if enforcement action was 
being considered in connection with private sector housing, then liaison would 
take place with the landlord and/or managing agent.

5.13 Liaison between Departments
Some of our enforcement powers, for example the issuing of Community Protection 
Notices overlaps with our statutory nuisance powers. In this situation national guidance 
must be followed to ensure that the correct and most appropriate legislation is used.

6.0 Formal Enforcement Options

Enforcement will normally move from level 1 through to level 3, although in serious 
cases it may be appropriate to commence at level 3. The points below are general 
and apply to all service areas in the scope of this policy; specific enforcement 
information for particular services may be set out in their operational documents.

The seriousness of a particular case will be judged against criteria such as the 
nature of the offence9, the consequences, the level of risk or harm which could or 
has occurred and the level of intent of the offender10.

The following sections provide guidance to officers where formal enforcement 
options (level 3) are being considered. In some cases the enforcement action will 
be taken by the officer acting under delegated authority, in other cases the matter 
may be referred to a Council committee or subcommittee. Delegation 
arrangements are set out in the Council constitution.

6.1 Statutory (legal) Notices
Some  legislation  provides  for  the  service  of  statutory  notices  which  require  
a person,  business  or  organisation to  comply  with specific requirements. 
Some notices may require works to be undertaken, others may impose a 
prohibition which prevents actions from starting or continuing. In some 
circumstances the use of a notice is a power available to the authority; other 
times it is a statutory duty. Where the service of a notice is a power, that 
decision will usually be taken by an appropriate authorised officer. Except in 
exceptional or emergency situations, all notices will be peer reviewed prior to 
service (template in appendix B). Prior to the service of the notice the authorised 
officer concerned must ensure that the situation to which the notice relates has 
not been remedied.

Generally, the notice will explain:
 what is wrong
 what is required to put things right
 the timescale in which to put things right
 what will happen if the notice is not complied with

In some circumstances where a formal notice has been served there may be a 

Page 49



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 16 of 256 

right of appeal against the Council’s decision. Aside from the general appeal 
procedures in respect of Human Rights issues, there are certain notices which 
allow a more specific and direct route of appeal through the local courts or other 
tribunal. In such cases, an explanation of the method of appeal will be provided at 
the time the notice is issued.

It is anticipated that individuals, organisations or businesses who do not comply 
with a properly written and served statutory notice will be considered for prosecution 
in line with the Code for Crown Prosecutors.

6.2 Work in default
Sometimes a further possible action after the service of a notice is the carrying out 
of “work in default”. Where appropriate, this will be considered.  The decision to carry 
out work in default will be governed by the urgency of the situation and the risk 
benefit which is to be achieved. Every effort will be made to ensure that work is 
carried out competently and that recharges are not unnecessarily high. Recharges 
may include costs to cover staff time expended after the service of a statutory notice. 
Outstanding debts will be passed to the Council’s legal services for recovery.

It may be necessary for the Council to take steps to remove unauthorised campers 
from land either in the ownership of the Council or at the request of another land 
owner. The Council’s internal procedures will be followed in this regard. Where a 
request is received from the owner of a third party land the Council will not always 
act on their behalf, but may request the landowner to take their own action to secure 
possession of the land.

6.3 Fixed penalty notices
There are specific offences where these notices may be considered as an 
enforcement option. Fixed Penalty Notices are an alternative to prosecution. They 
allow the offender to prevent the prosecution process taking  place  by paying a 
financial penalty.   Fixed Penalty Notices will not be used for repeat offenders or 
where there is previous record of a Fixed Penalty Notice being served for that 
offence.

If the penalty is unpaid then the offender will be prosecuted for the original offence. 
A Fixed Penalty Notice will therefore only be issued where there is enough 
evidence to support a prosecution. Unpaid notices will be followed up with 
prosecution to ensure their use is not discredited. Government guidance is clear that 
not prosecuting in the case of unpaid notices is unacceptable.

6.4 Simple Cautions
As an alternative to the prosecution of summary offences where the person admits 
their guilt, a simple caution may be considered. Senior Officers of the Council 
(usually a Head of Service or Director) have delegated authority to issue simple 
cautions.   The Council will follow guidelines from the Ministry of Justice.

Simple cautions will not usually be considered where the offender has a previous 
record of enforcement action at level 2 or 3 for the offence under consideration.

6.5 Injunctions
In some cases an injunction may provide a more appropriate remedy. The advice of 
the Council’s legal service will be taken in this regard.

Page 50



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 17 of 256 

6.6 Prosecution
Discretion will be used in deciding whether to initiate a prosecution. The Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council Constitution sets out the delegated arrangements for 
initiating a prosecution. This may be to a senior officer, a committee, or in certain cases 
the case officer.

The decision to prosecute will always take into account the criteria laid down in the 
Code for Crown Prosecutors11 (the Code). This includes two “tests” which the case 
must be subjected to – the evidential test and the public interest test. Proceedings 
will only be brought when to do so is considered to be in the public interest.

 The Evidential Test
The first stage in deciding whether to prosecute is the consideration of the 
evidence. If a particular case does not pass this stage then a prosecution 
should not go ahead. Officers need to satisfy themselves and the Council’s 
legal advisor(s) that the evidence can be used in Court, that it is reliable 
and that there is a realistic prospect of a conviction. If the case satisfies the 
evidential test then it must proceed to the second stage to decide if a 
prosecution for the particular offence is in the public interest.

 The Public Interest Test
Public Interest factors can affect the decision to prosecute or not to 
prosecute. These factors are set out in the Code and may include the 
seriousness of the offence, the level of culpability of the suspect, the 
circumstances and any harm caused, whether the offender is over 18 
years old, the impact on the community, whether a prosecution is a 
proportionate response and whether any sources of information require 
protecting. Some factors may increase the need  to  prosecute  but others 
may suggest that another course of action may be more appropriate. It is 
quite possible that one public interest factor alone may outweigh a number 
of other factors which tend in the opposite direction. Although there may 
be public interest factors tending against prosecution in a particular case, 
the Council will consider whether nonetheless a prosecution should go 
ahead and those factors put to the court for consideration when sentence 
is passed.

6.7 Endorsement, suspension and revocation of Licences
Following the conviction for certain offences, it may be appropriate to endorse a 
licence issued by the Council. In some cases the revocation of a licence is an 
enforcement option (which may or may not  require the holder to have  been 
convicted of an offence). 

This policy recognises that endorsement, suspension and revocation of licences can 
have a serious impact on an individual’s livelihood and such decisions will only be 
taken having full regard to the human rights issues regarding the removal of 
such a licence drawing upon appropriate legal advice.

Page 51



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 18 of 256 

Copy available at http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/code_for_crown_prosecutors/11

Page 52

http://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/code_for_crown_prosecutors/


Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 19 of 256 

7.0 General

7.1 Considering the Views of those affected by Offences
Enforcement is undertaken on behalf of the public and not just in the interests of any 
particular individual or group. However, when considering the public interest test, 
where appropriate the consequences for those affected by the offence and any views 
expressed by those directly affected may be sought and may be taken into account.

7.2 Re-starting a Prosecution
People should be able to rely on enforcement decisions taken by Officers. Normally, 
if a suspect or defendant is advised that there will not be a prosecution or that the 
enforcement action has been stopped the case will not start again. Occasionally, 
there are special reasons why enforcement action will re-start, particularly if the case 
is serious.  These reasons include:

 Rare cases where a “new look” at the original decision shows that it was 
clearly wrong and should not be allowed to stand;

 Cases which are stopped, so that more evidence can be collected and 
prepared, provided it is likely to become available in the fairly near 
future. In these cases, the defendant will be told that the enforcement action 
may well start again;

 Cases which are stopped because of a lack of  evidence but where 
more significant evidence is discovered later.

Where possible, an offender will be told as soon as sufficient evidence is obtained 
that a prosecution may follow. Prosecutions will be brought without unnecessary 
delay.

7.3 Indemnity of Inspectors
Section 26 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 allows local authorities to 
indemnify Inspectors appointed under that Act under specified circumstances. It is 
the policy of the Council to indemnify Inspectors appointed under that Act against 
the whole of any damages and costs or expenses which may be involved, if the 
council is satisfied that the Inspector honestly believed that the act complained of was 
within their powers and that their duty as an Inspector entitled them to do it, providing 
the Inspector was not wilfully acting against instructions.

Page 53



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 20 of 25

8.0 Monitoring and Review
This policy will be periodically reviewed and will be updated in response to new 
legislation, guidance or other relevant information. The reviewed policy will be 
approved by the relevant committee and cabinet and if significant changes are 
required to the policy, then it will undergo a consultation process involving the public 
and business community.

Customer feedback can be made direct to the Council officers, via its website, email 
or using the corporate complaints, compliments and comments system.

9.0 Training
The Council will put in place and resource a scheme of relevant training and 
continuous professional development for all staff engaged in regulatory activities. This 
may include training in general enforcement and service specific matters.

10.0  Complaints

10.1 General complaints
Complaints or observations regarding the content or application of this enforcement 
policy, should be made in writing to the relevant Head of Service at the address below. 
The name of the relevant head of service can be found from the Council website or 
by contacting the Council offices:

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Council Offices
The Campus Welwyn 
Garden City 
Hertfordshire
AL8 6AE

Email   contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk or customerservice@welhat.gov.uk Or 

the Chief Executive, at the address given above.

Alternatively, complaints may be made direct on the Council’s website at 
www.welhat.gov.uk

Complaints will not be investigated by the officers who took the decision or 
actions against which the complaint is being made.

10.2 Complaints regarding health and safety enforcement
Complaints regarding the enforcement of health and safety at work legislation may 
be made to the Independent Regulatory Challenge panel. The Independent Regulatory 
Challenge Panel provides an independent means for any person (whether companies 
or individuals) to complain about the actions of Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
or Local Authority (LA) health and safety regulators. Complaints may only be referred 
to the Panel if they have first been raised locally and it has not been possible to resolve 
the matter.

Page 54

mailto:contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:customerservice@welhat.gov.uk
http://www.welhat.gov.uk/


Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 21 of 25

The Panel will consider complaints from companies or individuals who have been 
visited by HSE or LA health and safety inspector and who believe that the visit was 
not justified as being in accordance with a risk based approach to targeting proactive 
inspections; or where the advice given by the HSE or LA health and safety regulator 
is incorrect or not proportionate to the risks.

The Panel will not consider complaints from companies or individuals subject to 
statutory notices or prosecution by HSE or LA health and safety regulators as they 
have recourse to employment tribunals or the courts respectively, which provide 
such an established and proper mechanism of appeal. Equally it will not deal with 
determinations on enforcement action subject to Primary Authority arrangements as 
there is an existing process to follow.

Detail of the Panel are available at http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/challenge- 
panel.htm and the terms of reference are at: http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/ircp- 
terms.pdf

10.3 Complaints regarding technical food safety issues
Complaints and disputes regarding technical food safety matters arising from the 
councils work as a food law enforcement authority may be made to the Food 
Standards Agency Independent Business Appeals Panel. This route can only be 
used when the local authority complaints procedure has been exhausted, but has not 
resulted in agreement.  The panel will not consider food hygiene rating scheme 
ratings, food hygiene inspection results or formal enforcement actions as these are 
already covered by existing appeal routes. The panel can contacted on line at 
www.food.gov.uk/business-appeal

10.4 Complaints regarding a Parking Ticket
The Penalty Charge notice details the alleged contravention, the date and time it 
occurred and the location where it happened. If you feel that this was wrongly issued 
or there are special circumstances then you can challenge the PCN. 
Challenges may result in the PCN being cancelled or your appeal being turned down.
Challenges regarding the issue of a Penalty Charge Notice must be made in writing to 
the Parking Office.
The Parking Office
PO Box 43
Buntingford
Herts
SG9 9WZ  

10.5 Right to request a review of an enforcement decision
Complaints about enforcement decisions, or failure of the Council to follow the 
regulators code should be made to the relevant Head of Service at the address 
below. The name of the relevant head of service can be found from the Council 
website or by contacting the Council offices:

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
Council Offices
The Campus Welwyn 
Garden City 
Hertfordshire

Page 55

http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/challenge-
http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/ircp-
http://www.food.gov.uk/business-appeal


Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 22 of 25

AL8 6AE

Email   contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk or customerservice@welhat.gov.uk

Regulated entities and the recipients of enforcement action have a general right to 
have the enforcement action reviewed by an officer not involved in the case. This 
will generally be by an appropriate manager on a case by case basis. This right is 
separate to any right of appeal and it may not be appropriate for a review 

to take place until the enforcement action has been concluded. Requesting such a 
review is does not stop or override any appeal which may have been made.

10.6 Complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman
The Local Government Ombudsman is able to deal with complaints of potential 
maladministration.

There are three Local Government Ombudsmen in England. Each of them deals with 
complaints from different parts of the country, but all new complaints go to the LGO 
Advice Team

LGO Advice Team: 0300 061 0614 or 0845 602 1983

The Local Government Ombudsman PO 
Box 4771
Coventry  CV4 0EH Fax: 
024 7682 0001

An enquiry can be made by email to advice@lgo.org.uk,

11.  Statutory right(s) of appeal

In some cases there may be a formal right of appeal against enforcement action taken 
by the Council for example to a Court or Tribunal. This right will be explained as 
part of the enforcement action and may be governed by strict rules or timescales. 
Such appeals are separate to complaints made to the Council or other bodies. It is 
the responsibility of the regulated entity to seek their own legal advice and assistance 
in making any such appeals in the timescales allowed.

Page 56

mailto:contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:customerservice@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:advice@lgo.org.uk


Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 23 of 25

Appendix A. Example data protection request form

Page 57



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 24 of 25

Appendix B. Example enforcement peer review sheet

Page 58



Welwyn Hatfield Council
CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Page 25 of 25

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Sian Chambers
Executive Member: Bernard Sarson
Ward: Hatfield Central and Villages

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 9 JULY 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES)

Part I

PROPOSED FIXED PENALTY NOTICE (FPN) CHARGE FOR BREACH OF HATFIELD 
PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER

1. Executive Summary

1.1 In February of this year, following a comprehensive consultation with residents, 
businesses and relevant stakeholders, Council approved the recommendation to 
introduce a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) within Hatfield. 

1.2 An officer group has been working on the implementation of this Order and has 
established an enforcement protocol using templates based on similar PSPOs 
implemented around the county and taking account of the council’s Enforcement 
Policy.

1.3 As part of the enforcement of a PSPO, those in breach of the Order could be 
issued a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN).

1.4 This report seeks approval for the recommended level of penalty to be levied, 
where a Fixed Penalty Notice has been issued under the agreed enforcement 
protocol. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Council to approve that the level of charge for a Fixed Penalty Notice associated 
with a breach of the Hatfield PSPO is set at £75 for a single breach, reduced to 
£50 if paid within 14 days. 

2.2 Council to note that, subject to agreement of 2.1, the council’s fees and charges 
schedule will be updated accordingly.

2.3 Council to note that fees and charges associated with breach of the PSPO will be 
reviewed annually along with other council Fees and Charges during the budget 
setting process.

3 Explanation

3.1 A PSPO is an order that identifies the public place (“the restricted area”) to which 
it applies and can make requirements, or prohibitions, or both within that area. 
This means that the local authority can require people to do specific things in a 
particular area or not to do specific things in a particular area provided that the 
prohibitions or requirements imposed are reasonable. 

3.2 A failure to comply with either a prohibition or requirement of the order is an 
offence and carries criminal sanctions. Upon summary conviction (offences 

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



- 2 -

heard within the Magistrates Court) defendants can face a fine not exceeding 
level three on the standard scale (currently £1000). Breaches of the order can 
also be discharged by use of a fixed penalty notice (FPN). 

3.3 It is important to recognise that FPNs are not a fine but are an alternative to 
prosecution whereby an individual accepts payment of a sum of money to 
discharge their liability for conviction.  Failure to pay an FPN may result in the 
case being progressed to Court.

3.4 The Hatfield PSPO has an enforcement protocol which makes it clear that 
issuing an FPN is a tool that can be used if the accredited officer at the time of 
dealing with an incident feels that it is justified. The council officers and local 
police officers who will be enforcing the PSPO are aware that support, guidance 
and advice are still the first actions to be undertaken. Only when it is felt that an 
individual is not willing to take advice and/or support or is consistently in breach 
of the PSPO will enforcement action be taken. 

3.5 Home Office Guidance states that the council is responsible for all court action 
undertaken and associated costs, by way of prosecution as a result of a breach 
of the PSPO.  The council has an existing procedure for dealing with the use of 
FPNs.  Any FPN issued as a result of the proposed PSPO will be dealt with in 
line with this procedure, however it is not anticipated that there will be a large 
volume of Notices issued.

3.6 The Home Office Guidance also states that in cases where an individual is 
convicted of a beach the maximum fine is a level 2 fine (max £500) for alcohol 
consumption or a level 3 fine (max £1000) for other breaches.

3.7 There is a great deal of support for the implementation of the PSPO in the 
designated area and officers and partners are proposing to have this in place by 
late July.  

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 Section 68 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 states that 
an authorised person may issue a fixed penalty notice to anyone he or she has 
reason to believe has committed an offence under section 63 -67 of the act in 
relation to a public space protection order.  All Council officers who will be issuing 
fixed penalty notices will be authorised in writing to do so.

4.2 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 details the procedures to 
follow when issuing a fixed penalty notice and states that the amount specified 
on the fixed penalty notice should not exceed £100  

4.3 Financial Implication(s)

4.4 It is proposed that the fixed penalty notice charge for a breach of the PSPO will 
be set at £75, reduced to £50 if paid within 14 days. 

4.5 For persistent breaches, defendants can face a fine upon summary conviction 
(offences heard within the Magistrates Court) not exceeding level three on the 
standard scale (currently £1000).

Page 62



- 3 -

4.6 Enforcement costs under this order will be met by existing police and council 
staff.  The Anti-Social Behaviour Team will undertake all administration functions 
with regards to enforcement, including any enforcement action deemed 
appropriate.  This will be met from existing budget. 

4.7 Income from FPNs is expected to be small and could be used to cover some 
associated costs of implementing the proposal.  As the income is expected to be 
minimal it is not proposed to update the budget in this respect.

4.8 Home Office Guidance states that the council is liable for all court action 
undertaken by way of prosecution for breaches of the PSPO.  The council has an 
existing procedure for dealing with the use of FPNs. Any FPN issued as a result 
of the proposed PSPO will be dealt with in line with this procedure, however it is 
not anticipated that there will be a large volume of Notices issued.

5 Risk Management Implications

5.1 Legal challenge.  FPNs will be issued in accordance with the PSPO enforcement 
protocol and having regard to the council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy.  
Likelihood Low; Impact Low. 

5.2 Non-payment of fines. The penalty for breaches of this order relate to fines 
(FPNs), and there is a risk that these may not be paid and that recovery action 
will be required.  Each case will be considered on its merits and in accordance 
with the council’s debt recovery procedures.  Likelihood Medium; Impact Low. 

6 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

6.1 There are no specific security and terrorism implications arising from this report.

7 Procurement Implication(s)

7.1 There are no direct procurement implication from this report at this time. 

8 Climate Change Implication(s)

8.1 There are no direct climate change implications from this report at this time.

9 Link to Corporate Priorities

9.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities:

 Maintain a safe and healthy community 
 Protect and enhance the environment 

10.2 In addition the PSPO will enhance the community safety partnership’s ability to 
tackle ASB through a targeted but flexible approach; and help to deliver its 
objectives of:

 Prevent Antisocial Behaviour,
 Reduce the damage caused to neighbourhoods by drugs and alcohol 

misuse.

Page 63



- 4 -

10 Equality and Diversity

11 The Equality Impact Assessment identified that there is the potential for negative 
impacts on Age, Disability and Ethnicity because of their ability to pay and/or 
understand what behaviours are prohibited in the restricted area.  Actions have 
been agreed to mitigate these impacts.  These actions include: a case by case 
approach to enforcement, varied methods of payment available and different 
formats that the information will be made available to those within the community 
about the new Order and it is considered that with these mitigating actions in place, 
it would be appropriate to recommend the proposals in this report.

12 Communication Plan

12.1 There is an agreed communication plan in place for the implementation of the 
PSPO. It includes social media and website posts, fixed signage within the PSPO 
designate area and information leaflets to individuals who work and live in the 
area. There will also be a soft launch prior to the official implementation and 
enforcement of the PSPO to make sure that the community is aware on the new 
Order. Information will also be in the Council’s LIFE Magazine this summer about 
the implementation of the PSPO.

Name of author Matt Rayner
Title Community Partnership Manager
Date 13 June 2018

Background papers to be listed (if applicable)  

Recommendation to full council - implementation of Public Space Protection Order - 21 
February 2018 

Page 64



Council 09.07.2018
Part I
Item No: 10

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 9 JULY 2018

NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

To consider the following notice of motion submitted under Procedure Rule 50:-

1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Jill Weston and 
will be seconded by Councillor Margaret Birleson:-

“This Council notes that:

• The Council's action in removing all four community benches at Woodhall 
Shopping Parade and replacing them with single wooden blocks is causing 
distress to many elderly and disabled people. 

This Council believes that:

• The community benches are needed by members of the local community 
to rest, socialise and enjoy the street environment.

• A better solution to the antisocial behaviour of some young people would 
be to engage in dialogue with them and set up activities they can take part 
in. 

This Council resolves to:

• Re-install the seats immediately.

• Review youth activities in the areas where young people are causing a 
nuisance and present recommendations to the relevant committee.”

2. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Max Holloway and 
will be seconded by Councillor John Fitzpatrick:-

“This Council notes that following the introduction of Universal Credit to Welwyn 
Hatfield, we have residents that have seen payments delayed and as a 
consequence struggle to get by.

According to the National Audit Office, the cost of implementing and 
administrating Universal Credit is ballooning, while judges have declared the 
scheme unlawfully discriminative against the disabled.

This Council supports calls to pause the rollout of Universal Credit in Welwyn 
Hatfield, and resolves to write to the Secretary of State for Work and pensions 
expressing that will.”

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



3. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Malcolm Cowan 
and will be seconded by Councillor Helen Quenet

“The council to note: that under the Localism Act 2011, councils may operate 
different models of Governance arrangements and that a number of authorities 
have moved back to a so called “modern committee system” model of 
governance.  Such changes must commence from a council’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) and the decision to change must be made in advance of the AGM 
in order for it to be implemented from that date. The Council notes that these 
authorities report advantages with a committee system of governance including 

 enhanced backbencher member engagement; 
 improved transparency and accountability of decision making; scrutiny at 

the point of decision making; 
 enhanced opportunities in public engagement; 
 more consensual approaches to decision making with the opportunity to 

bring opposition members into the decision making process; 
 greater opportunities to demonstrate whole council support for issues which 

have cross party support; 
 and the ability to disengage from structures which are unproductive for 

scrutiny. 

This council therefore requests the Chief Executive, Corporate Director (Public 
Protection, Planning & Governance) and Monitoring Officer, in conjunction with 
the Constitution Review Group fully research, prepare and thereafter present to 
the Council meeting on 19th November 2018 a detailed report setting out the 
implications, process, practicalities and potential timetable to move from the 
current Executive (Leader and Cabinet) model of governance to a Committee 
system of governance as permitted by the Localism Act 2011.”

4. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Paul Zukowskyj 
and will be seconded by Councillor Siobhan Elam

“This Council reaffirms its view that the Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
should remain under the control and democratic accountability of Hertfordshire 
County Council and fully supports the view previously taken by this Council and 
the County Council in this regard.

This council also has serious concerns over the PCC's proposed changes to the 
network of fire stations in Welwyn Hatfield and the very serious adverse impact 
on response times this would lead to. The consequent increase in risk is, in this 
council's view, unacceptable.

This council requests its officers to forward this view to all bodies associated with 
making decisions on this issue.”

Page 66



5. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Malcolm Cowan 
and will be seconded by Councillor Tamsin Jackson-Mynott

“This council believes that anti-social behaviour is better dealt with by providing 
diversionary activities than by removing seats and replacing them by stump 
blocks which are unusable by many members of our community who value the 
chance to sit down during a shopping trip. This council regrets that local ward 
councillors were not brought into the discussion process, rather than being faced 
with a fait accompli. 

Council therefore resolves to provide seats that meet the needs of all members 
of the community at the earliest possible date, set up activities that will help to 
engage those who are disrupting the peace and quiet of various parts of our 
borough and in future engage with local councillors before such decisions are 
made.”

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Food Safety Service Plan 2018/19
	8a1 - Food Safety Service delivery report
	food safety service plan 2018

	8b Corporate Enforcement Policy
	8b1 - Corporate Enforcement Policy report
	Corporate Enforcement Policy

	9 PROPOSED FIXED PENALTY NOTICE CHARGE FOR BREACH OF HATFIELD PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER
	10 NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

